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Farewell to the Terrace
A move that completes a historic legacy

B
enjamin Lee Guinness of
No 80 St Stephen’s
Green, now Iveagh
House, acquired the

Coburg Gardens at the back of his
house in 1862.

He had this property, then in a
neglected state, landscaped in the
style that we recognise today as
Iveagh Gardens. On this site was
held the Great Dublin Interna-
tional Exhibition of 1865.

To house that event an impres-
sive Winter Garden of glass and
iron as well as an Exhibition
Palace in brick and stone facing
on to Earlsfort Terrace were
erected.

After the 1865 Event, the Guin-
ness family retained the struc-
tures for concerts and exhibi-
tions. The Winter Garden was
sold in 1882 and removed to Eng-
land.

The Exhibition Palace along
Earlsfort Terrace was sold the fol-
lowing year to the Commis-
sioners of Public Works, and
occupied by the then recently
established Royal University of
Ireland.

Converted for university pur-
poses, it was there between 1883
and 1909 that candidates from all
over Ireland sat their Royal Uni-
versity examinations and did

their science experiments for
these examinations.

And it was here, in the early
years of the twentieth century, in
what had been the Concert Hall
of the old Exhibition Palace and
now renamed the Great Hall, that
the students of the Jesuit-man-
aged University College on
St Stephen’s Green protested
against the playing of God Save
the King during the conferring cer-
emonies.

Under the Irish Universities
Act (1908) University College
Dublin became a constituent col-
lege of the National University of
Ireland, and a grant was made
available for the necessary build-
ings. Several possible sites were
examined before the College
authorities concluded that the
Earlsfort Terrace site offered the
best solution.

On five-and-a-half acres, it fell
far short of the acreage provided
for recently established colleges
in Britain. RM Butler was
appointed architect, and the
building contract was awarded to
G and T Crampton.

Butler’s plan proposed a quad-
rangle. The front, facing east
along Earlsfort Terrace, would
contain Arts, Commerce and
administration. The north wing,

facing St Stephen’s Green, would
house the science faculty. The
south wing, along Hatch Street,
would be for medicine. The west
wing, backing on to Iveagh Gar-
dens, would accommodate the
faculties of Engineering and
Architecture. And a central bloc
would enclose the library and
Aula Maxima.

The construction began in 1912
but encountered several difficul-

ties. The most serious problem
was the effect of the 1914-18 war
which greatly inflated prices
while the parliamentary grant for
building remained as it was fixed
in 1908.

When the erection of the pro-
posed quadrangle had to be sus-
pended (permanently as it turned
out), only the front and north
wing had been completed – or
less than half the original scheme.

It was the last major building
project of the British administra-
tion in Dublin; and like the
country itself, it was left trun-
cated as the British withdrew.

And it is not without its own
peculiar symbolism that the tragi-
cally divisive Treaty debates,
resulting ultimately in the Civil
War, should have taken place in
the Council Chamber of the unfin-
ished Earlsfort Terrace building.

Meanwhile, the number of stu-
dents attending UCD was
expanding beyond every expecta-
tion. If the quadrangle at Earls-
fort Terrace had been completed
it was intended to accommodate
1,000 comfortably.

The overcrowding was
relieved to some extent in 1926 by
the transfer of the College of Sci-
ence in Merrion Street to UCD.
The relief, however, was tempo-
rary, for numbers continued to
grow; and a few years later the
Medical School had to be moved
out of its old premises in Cecilia
Street to add to the numbers in
Earlsfort Terrace.

In 1939 Lord Iveagh offered his
house and gardens as a gift to the
nation. The government decided
to keep Iveagh House for the
Department of External Affairs
but was prepared to lease to UCD
the use of the gardens and the
riding-school grounds alongside
the northern end of Earlsfort Ter-
race, and to grant a new Engi-
neering and Science building at
the Hatch Street end in lieu of the
College of Science in Merrion
Street.

The Hatch Street scheme
proved too cramped without the
acquisition of Crawford’s garage
at one end or the laundry at the

other. Hopes of acquiring Lord
Iveagh’s tennis-courts were
dashed when this site was
reserved for a civil servants’ res-
taurant.

Plans for the erection of a
School of Architecture in the gar-
dens behind the Catholic Univer-
sity houses, numbers 82-86 St
Stephen’s Green, had to be aban-
doned because the Office of
Public Works objected on the
grounds that the building would
interfere with the privacy and the
amount of sunlight falling on the
garden of the Department of
External Affairs.

Efforts to purchase Mespil
House and property in Peter’s
Place also failed. And when the
government made it clear that
compulsory purchase powers
would not be forthcoming, the
UCD authorities decided on a sub-
urban campus at Belfield.

When this became public, for-
midable and bitter opposition to
the proposed move from the city
gathered momentum.

A Commission on Accommoda-
tion Needs, under the chairman-
ship of Mr Justice Cearrbhall Ó
Dalaigh, reported in 1959 in
favour of the transfer of UCD to
Belfield, and the Dáil approved it
in 1960.

Meanwhile, drastic over-
crowding necessitated several
makeshift adjustments. In the
decade 1959–1969 student num-
bers more than doubled from
more than 4,700 to more than
10,200. The overcrowding cre-
ated favourable conditions for
the student revolt and occupa-
tions of the late 1960s.

UCD’s evacuation from the
Terrace, which began with the
opening of the science building in
Belfield in 1964, has taken a long
time to complete.

Its Great Hall was handed over
in 1977 for a resplendent future as
the National Concert Hall. The
Concert Hall shared Earlsfort Ter-
race with UCD’s Departments of
Medicine and Engineering.

After a century, UCD bids fare-
well to the Terrace. Those of us
who have been its privileged, if
temporary, occupants may, at
times, have suffered in its over-
crowding. More often, we will
have enjoyed the camaraderie
which it engendered, and will
ever be grateful for the memories
awakened there.

❑ Prof Donal McCartney attended
UCD as an undergraduate in 1948
and was professer of Modern Irish
History there from 1978 to 1994
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EARLSFORT TERRACE: notable events

LOOKING TO THE FUTURE WEARING THE TROUSERS

1883 Earlsfort Terrace comes into
use.
1908 The Royal University of Ire-
land is dissolved and the National
University of Ireland, comprising
Dublin, Cork and Galway, is born.
Queen’s College, Belfast,
becomes Queen’s University.
1909 Denis Coffey is appointed
the first president of UCD as the
college opens its doors.
1911 Land donated by Lord Iveagh
of Guinness-brewing fame helps
the university expand in Earlsfort
Terrace, Hatch Street and St
Stephen’s Green.
1913 Eoin MacNeill, professor of
early Irish history at Earlsfort Ter-
race and a grandfather of Michael
McDowell, calls for the establish-
ment of an Irish nationalist force,

the Irish Volunteers, to counteract
the UVF in the North.
1914 Just as the First World War
starts, the new buildings at Earls-
fort Terrace start to be completed.
They’re designed by Rudolf Maxi-
milian Butler. He was head of archi-
tecture in UCD between 1924 and
1943. Butler’s classical design
won the 1912 competition for the

new buildings at Earlsfort Terrace.
However, they were plagued by
structural and labour problems.
1916 Easter Rising Many UCD
staff, students and alumni take
part in the Rising, led by Patrick
Pearse. He was educated at the
Royal University, forerunner of
UCD. Many UCD people go on to
take part in the subsequent War of
Independence, 1917–1921.

The Kevin Barry window was
installed in the Council Chamber,
commemorating a medical stu-
dent who was hanged for his part
in an ambush on British soldiers
during the War of Independence.
1919 For the next three years, the
Houses of the Oireachtas are
housed in UCD at Earlsfort Terrace
and in December, 1921 and Jan-

uary, 1922, extensive parliamen-
tary debates are held there.
1931 The medical school moves
to Earlsfort Terrace from its old
home in Cecilia Street.
1933 The grounds committee
buys Belfield House and 18 hec-
tares on the Stillorgan Road for
playing fields and sports facilities.
1935 The Irish Folklore Commis-

sion is established at Earlsfort Ter-
race.
1939 By the start of the second
World War, the college is the
largest third-level institution in the
State. During the Emergency
years, two students at Earlsfort
Terrace were the late Charles J
Haughey and Dr Garret FitzGerald.
1947 Dr Michael Tierney is
appointed President. It was he
who conceived the idea of moving
UCD to the suburbs and over the
next 17 years, he was much
involved in the purchase of vast
tracts of land at Belfield.
1949 The university buys Mon-
trose, which is later swapped with
the Ardmore acreage. Montrose
subsequently becomes RTÉ’s
headquarters.

1954 UCD celebrates centenary.
1962 The first sod is turned at
Belfield and the president of the
time, Eamon de Valera, kneels to
kiss the ring of Archbishop
McQuaid.
1965 Brenda O’Hanrahan is the
first woman to wear trousers in
class.
1966 Journalists who cut their

teeth on UCD student newspa-
pers, such as Awake and Campus,
include Conor Brady, Vincent
Browne and Kevin Myers.
1970 The move to Belfield from
Earlsfort Terrace begins, with the
Arts and Commerce faculties first
to go. Paddy Keogh, the head
porter at Earlsfort Terrace, who
spent a lifetime working at the Ter-
race, since 1916, moves to Belf-
ield. The following year, 1971, he
retires and is awarded an Hon-
orary Master of Arts.
1981 The National Concert Hall is
opened in what had been the
Great Hall at Earlsfort Terrace.
2004 Dr Hugh Brady is appointed
President, succeeding Dr Art Cos-
grove.
2007 UCD finally vacates Earlsfort

Terrace, with the last engineering
and medical students transferring
to Belfield. A major redevelopment
plan will turn the National Concert
Hall into a major multi-purpose con-
cert venue. The 2007 edition of
UCD Connections will include a
major retrospective of the Earls-
fort Terrace campus.

– Hugh Oram

As UCD prepares to
leave Earlsfort
Terrace in Dublin
city centre, Prof
Donal McCartney
recalls many of
the historic events
that shaped it

Right: a statue in the Iveagh Gardens
– the Earlsfort Terrace backyard
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